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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

  As the Court is well aware, Plaintiffs and the Federal Government Defendants have already briefed 

cross-motions for summary judgment in this case.  Subsequent to the briefing on cross-motions for 

summary judgment, and in response to discovery requests by the Defendants-Intervenors, Plaintiffs 

revealed that the California Department of Health Services had investigated the incidents Plaintiffs 

cited to the Court as denials of “emergency abortion-related medical services”1 and determined that 

these denials did not violate §1317.  Ex. B to Mattox Declaration, Letter from Donna Loza to A. 

Cordero dated July 20, 2006.  Additionally, citing the lack of a specific policy concerning “inevitable 

abortions,” the Department approved as an “acceptable Plan of Correction” Scripps-Mercy’s adoption 

of a policy titled “Adherence to Catholic Healthcare Directives in the Care of Obstetrical Patients.”  

Id., Statement of Deficiencies and Plan of Correction, 1.  This policy requires all hospital and medical 

staff to abide by the “Ethical and Religious Directives for Catholic Health Care Services published by 

the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops.” Id.  This policy provides, in part, “Abortion (that 

is, the directly intended termination of pregnancy before viability or the directly intended destruction 

of a viable fetus) is never permitted.”  Id.  The Medical Groups join the Government Defendants’ 

Motion for Summary Judgment and supplement the arguments herein. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

  There is no actual controversy in this case.  Rather, Plaintiffs ask this Court for a pre-emptive 

advisory ruling authorizing California to punish medical professionals who do not perform abortions.  

The requested relief is “pre-emptive” because the state law Plaintiffs cite does not conflict with the 

Weldon Amendment on its face or in its historical application.  The novelty of Plaintiffs’ 

interpretation of state law in order to manufacture a controversy is demonstrated by the fact that 

although the state law that Plaintiffs rely upon has been in force for over two decades, Plaintiffs 

cannot identify even a single instance of its application in the manner they urge.  The requested relief 

is “advisory” because even if the Court were to award the full relief Plaintiffs request, by declaring the 

                                                      

1 Plaintiffs’ Combined Opposition to Defendants’ MSJ & Reply in Support of MSJ, 6, 
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Weldon Amendment unconstitutional, California would still be bound by the United States 

Constitution and several provisions of federal law not to enforce the provisions of California law at 

issue here in the manner in which they seek to enforce them.  Thus, the relief Plaintiffs request would 

not redress the theoretical harm Plaintiffs allege, but would instead require physicians to err on the 

side of performing abortions in order to avoid criminal prosecution and civil punishment by the state.           

I. PLAINTIFFS LACK STANDING AND THEIR CLAIMS ARE NOT RIPE BECAUSE CAL. 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE §1317 DOES NOT REQUIRE MEDICAL    
PROFESSIONALS TO PROVIDE ABORTION SERVICES.    

 
  The Government Defendants have effectively refuted Plaintiffs’ claims on their merits.  However, 

the Medical Groups agree with the Government Defendants that the Court lacks jurisdiction even to 

reach these arguments because the Plaintiffs lack standing and their claims are not ripe.  In Thomas v. 

Anchorage Equal Rights Comm’n, 220 F.3d 1134, 1139 (9th Cir. 2000) (en banc), the Ninth Circuit 

established three factors to guide the determination whether a pre-enforcement challenge to a statute 

arose from a genuine “threat of prosecution” sufficient to satisfy the “case or controversy” 

requirement of Article III of the United States Constitution: 

[1] whether the plaintiffs have articulated a concrete plan to violate the law in 
question; [2] whether the prosecuting authorities have communicated a specific 
warning or threat to initiate proceedings, and [3] the history of past prosecution or 
enforcement under the challenged statute. 

 
Similarly, for a claim to be ripe for judicial review, a litigant must “assert[] an injury that is real and 

concrete rather than speculative and hypothetical,” a requirement that “coincides squarely with 

standing’s injury in fact prong.”  Id. at 1139.  Plaintiffs fail to demonstrate a concrete injury to their 

purported interests that could be redressed by the remedy they seek. 

A. There Is No Actual Conflict Between California Law and the Weldon Amendment 
Because §1317 Does Not Require Healthcare Professionals to Perform Abortions. 

 
  Plaintiffs’ Spending Clause argument is premised on an alleged conflict between Cal. Health and 

Safety Code §1317 and the Weldon Amendment.  Plaintiffs’ Memo in Support of MSJ, 14 (“The 

conflict between the Weldon Amendment and the California Health and Safety Code in regard to 

emergency abortions provides California with standing to pursue its constitutional challenge to the 
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Weldon Amendment.”)    Because the statutes do not actually conflict, there is no controversy.   

    1. The Weldon Amendment. 

  Contrary to Plaintiffs’ rhetoric, the Weldon Amendment is not an abortion restriction at all.  As the 

Federal Government Defendants have ably explained, the Weldon Amendment is a protection for the 

rights of conscience of healthcare workers and institutions.  It is a federal statute that simply prohibits 

recipients of federal funding from discriminating against medical professionals and institutions who 

do not perform abortions.  The Weldon Amendment is not unique in its protection of the rights of 

individuals and institutions not to perform or refer for abortions.  See Part II, infra; Defendants’ 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of MTD at 2-3.  Although different in some 

important respects from these other conscience laws, they share the same ultimate purpose, the 

protection of healthcare workers from government efforts to compel them to perform abortions.         

    2. California Health & Safety Code §1317. 

  Section 1317 is a California law regulating the provision of medical care in licensed health 

facilities that maintain emergency departments.  Hospitals are subject to fines of up to $25,000 for 

violating the statute or the applicable regulations. §1317.6(a).  They may also have their emergency 

medical service permit revoked or suspended.  §1317.6(g).  Individual physicians and surgeons are 

subject to $5,000 fines. §1317.6(c).  Criminal liability also attaches, since “any administrative or 

medical personnel who knowingly and intentionally violates any provision of this article, may be 

charged by the local district attorney with a misdemeanor.” §1317.6(h).  Such a conviction would be 

punishable by up to six months imprisonment and an additional $1,000 fine.  CAL. PENAL CODE §19.  

The statute also provides a private right of action by which anyone “personal[ly] harm[ed]” and 

hospitals who receive patients transferred in violation of §1317 may bring a civil action for damages, 

attorney’s fees, and “other appropriate relief.” §1317.6(j).  In fact, “any person potentially harmed by 

a violation of [§1317], or the local district attorney or the Attorney General, may bring a civil action 

against the responsible hospital or administrative or medical personnel, to enjoin the violation, and if 

the injunction issues, the court shall award reasonable attorney’s fees.”  Id. (italics added).  Thus, if 

Plaintiffs’ interpretation of §1317 is adopted, it may permit any woman of childbearing age, local 
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district attorneys and the Attorney General to bring actions for injunctive relief against any hospital, 

physician, physician assistant, and nurse in the state that objects to performing abortions and abortion 

referrals in any circumstance that might fall within the scope of the statute, collecting attorney’s fees 

from the hospitals and medical professionals.            

  Nothing in the express language of §1317 requires a medical professional or institution to 

intentionally perform an abortion.  Rather, this statute requires medical professionals and institutions, 

in certain circumstances, to provide “emergency services and care … necessary to relieve or eliminate 

the emergency medical condition, within the capability of the facility.” CAL. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE 

§1317.1(a)(1). (italics added)  As the final clause indicates, §1317 does not require every emergency 

department in the state to perform every conceivable service that might be called for in a given rare 

emergency.  The statute specifies, “‘Within the capability of the facility’ means those capabilities 

which the hospital is required to have as a condition of its emergency medical services permit and 

services specified on Services Inventory Form 7041 filed by the hospital with the Office of Statewide 

Health Planning and Development.”  §1317.1(h).   

  The California regulations governing Comprehensive Emergency Medical Services at General 

Acute Care Hospitals may be found at CAL. ADMIN. CODE TITLE 22, §§70451-70459.  Although the 

regulations provide a list of various services a hospital’s emergency services unit must provide, the 

regulations do not state that a hospital must perform abortions.  See CAL. ADMIN. CODE TITLE 22, 

§70453(m)-(q).  Even the general requirement that “Surgical services shall be immediately available 

for life-threatening situations,” does not encompass the threat to the undefined “health” situations that 

Plaintiffs claim §1317 covers.  CAL. ADMIN. CODE TITLE 22, §70453(p).  Insofar as California law 

does not even require an emergency department to have a general surgeon immediately available in 

non-life-threatening situations, California law cannot be read, as Plaintiffs contend, to require that 

abortions be performed in the non-life-threatening situations contemplated by §1317(b).  Plaintiffs’ 

argument that the Weldon Amendment “forces California to single out abortion as the one emergency 

medical procedure that health care professionals and entities cannot be forced to provide” is simply 

unsupported by the plain language of §1317 and the regulations governing emergency departments.  
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Plaintiff’s Memo in Support of MSJ, at 23.  Because there is no abortion requirement in California’s 

regulations governing emergency medical services, the only conceivable way in which §1317 may be 

interpreted to require an emergency department to perform abortions is if a hospital volunteers that it 

will provide abortion services on its Form 7041. See §1317.1(h).        

  The results of the investigations of a Scripps-Mercy Hospital earlier this year confirm that 

California does not require hospitals with emergency services departments to perform abortions.  In 

response to a complaint by counsel for Plaintiffs, officials for the California Department of Health 

Services investigated Scripps Mercy Hospital and determined that it was not in violation of §1317.  

Ex. B to Mattox Declaration, Letter from Donna Loza to A. Cordero dated July 20, 2006; Ex. A to 

Mattox Dec., Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendant-Intervenors First Request for Answers to 

Interrogatories, Responses Nos 3-6 (No identified additional instances before or since the Scripps 

Mercy complaints).  Moreover, independently finding that the hospital lacked a specific policy, 

adequately communicated to staff, concerning “inevitable abortions,” the officials accepted as 

Scripps-Mercy’s “Plan of Correction” the adoption of a policy entitled “Adherence to Catholic 

Healthcare Directives in the Care of Obstetrical Patients.”  Id.  Ex. B to Mattox Dec., Summary 

Statement of Deficiencies and Plan of Correction, at 1.  This policy states, “All hospital and medical 

staff shall abide by the Ethical and Religious Directives for Catholic Health Care Services published 

by the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops.”  Ex. C to Mattox Dec., Adherence to Catholic 

Healthcare Directives in the Care of Obstetrical Patients.  Among these Directives, incorporated 

specifically in the Scripps-Mercy hospital policy, is the following:  

“Abortion (that is, the directly intended termination of pregnancy before viability or 
the directly intended destruction of a viable fetus) is never permitted.  Every 
procedure whose sole immediate effect is the termination of pregnancy before viability 
is an abortion….”   

 
Id; Ex. D to Mattox Dec., Ethical and Religious Directives, p. 19, Directive 45 (emphases added).        

  It is quite sensible that California would not mandate that every emergency department and 

professional in the state perform abortions since it is prohibited by federal law from imposing that 

stricture. As discussed in more detail below, California, like every state receiving federal health-
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related financial assistance as well as the federal government itself, has been explicitly forbidden for 

over ten years by another federal law (commonly called the “Coats-Snowe Amendment”) from 

requiring medical professionals or institutions to undergo training in the performance of abortions.  42 

U.S.C. §238n(a)(1) (prohibiting state and local governments receiving health-related federal funding 

from discriminating against an individual because they refused training in the performance of 

abortions).  The vast majority of the funds at issue in this case under the Weldon Amendment are 

health-related funds provided to California by the United States Department of Health & Human 

Services and thus also covered by the Coats-Snowe Amendment.  Declaration of Tim Muscat in 

Support of Plaintiffs’ MSJ, ¶3 & Ex. A.  Since §1317 requires only the provision of services that are 

“within the capability of the facility” Plaintiffs’ apparent interpretation of it to require that medical 

professionals that have no training in the provision of abortions must nevertheless perform these 

intrusive procedures defies logic, expose objecting medical professionals and institutions to the risk of 

malpractice liability, and endanger women’s lives and health.      

  Further, §1317, by its terms, is satisfied whenever services are provided that are “necessary to 

relieve or eliminate the emergency medical condition.”  §1317.1(a)(1).  Thus, a healthcare 

institution’s or professional’s responsibilities under §1317 are satisfied by providing services 

sufficient to stabilize the patient’s emergency condition even if the underlying cause of the condition 

remains.  Cal. Health & Safety Code §1317 merely mirrors the same requirement in its federal 

counterpart, the Emergency Medical Transfer And Labor Act (“EMTALA”), 42 U.S.C. §1395dd(b).  

Jackson v. East Bay Hospital, 980 F. Supp. 1341, 1350 (N.D. Cal. 1997) (describing §1317 as a “state 

law version of EMTALA”), affirmed, 246 F.3d 1248, 1258 (9th Cir. 2001) (“California Health & 

Safety Code §1317 is California’s version of [EMTALA]”).  See also §1317.6(e)-(g) (fines imposed 

pursuant to §1317 offset by fines under EMTALA, reported to HHS for crediting against EMTALA 

fines).  If the medical professional is not equipped or trained to provide an abortion, or if in the 

professional’s judgment emergency medical treatment other than an abortion may be provided that 

will stabilize the patient’s condition, such stabilizing treatment satisfies the express requirements of 

§1317.  Brooker v. Desert Hospital Corp., 947 F. 2d 412, 415 (9th Cir. 1991) (EMTALA “did not 
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require [the] hospital to alleviate completely Booker’s emergency condition;” provision of angioplasty 

to stabilize patient’s condition satisfied EMTALA although bypass was ultimately necessary); 

§1317.1(h) (“stabilization” occurs “when, in the opinion of the treating provider, the patient’s medical 

condition is such that, within reasonable medical probability, no material deterioration of the patient’s 

condition is likely to result from, or occur during, a transfer of the patient….).   

  Perhaps because of the very fact that the statute does not require it, §1317 has never been applied 

to criminally or civilly sanction a healthcare institution or professional that refused to provide an 

abortion or abortion referral, and the only complaint Plaintiffs could identify of such a violation of 

§1317 was a complaint filed by Plaintiffs’ counsel during this litigation which resulted in the agency 

concluding there was no violation of §1317.  There is no actual conflict between §1317 and the 

Weldon Amendment, and hence Plaintiffs lack standing to complain that the Weldon Amendment 

interferes with any sovereign right of California to enforce the statute.        

   B.  Plaintiffs’ Manufactured Conflict Between §1317 and the Weldon  Amendment  
Does Not Amount to an Actual Threat of Enforcement Sufficient to Confer 
Standing on Plaintiffs and Render Their Claims Ripe. 

 
  Because by its express terms §1317 does not require healthcare providers to perform abortions or 

provide abortion referrals, the “conflict” between this California law and the Weldon Amendment 

results not from the text or history of application of the statute, but Attorney General Lockyer’s 

unexplained statement in his declaration that the Weldon Amendment prevents him from enforcing 

“state laws, such as that requiring health care entities to provide emergency abortion services.”  

Declaration of Bill Lockyer in Support of Plaintiffs’ MSJ, ¶8.  This bare statement, unsupported by 

the text or historical enforcement of the statute, the implementing regulations, or any judicial decision 

applying it, is plainly insufficient to demonstrate the concrete injury necessary to confer standing on 

Plaintiffs to challenge the Weldon Amendment as conflicting with the enforcement of §1317 or to 

create a ripe controversy fit for judicial review.  See Thorning v. Hollister Sch. Dist., 11 Cal. App. 4th 

1598, 1604 (1992) (even an “official interpretation of a statute by the Attorney General is not 

controlling”); See Stenberg v. Carhart, 530 U.S. 914, 942 (2000) (rejecting state attorney general’s 

interpretation of statute where it conflicted with statute’s language).     
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  Nevertheless, even taking Plaintiffs’ interpretation of §1317 to be correct, in order for an actual 

conflict to arise between California’s obligations under the Weldon Amendment and California’s 

desire to enforce §1317 by criminally or civilly sanctioning a medical professional for her failure to 

perform an abortion, at least the following whirlwind of unlikely circumstances would have to occur:  

(1)  A pregnant woman would have to have a “medical condition manifesting itself by acute 
symptoms of sufficient severity (including severe pain) such that the absence of immediate 
medical attention could reasonably be expected to result in … (1) placing the patient’s health 
in serious jeopardy, (2) serious impairment to bodily functions, or (3) serious disfunction of 
any bodily organ or part.”  Cal. Health & Safety Code §1317.1(b) (defining “emergency 
medical condition.” 
 
(2) This woman would have to present to a licensed healthcare facility “that maintains and 
operates an emergency department to provide emergency services to the public.”  §1317(a).   
 
(3) A physician at the hospital would have to reach the medical determination that the woman 
had an “emergency medical condition” within the meaning of Cal. Health & Safety Code 
§1317.1(b), and that the sole2 necessary and medically indicated means of treating that 
condition was the intentional abortion of her unborn child. §1317.1(c) (no liability for 
reasonable determination that individual does not suffer from an emergency condition or 
hospital lacks available facilities and personnel to render such services).         
 
(4)  The hospital would have to be equipped to provide an abortion and would have had to 
indicate this on its Services Inventory Form 7041, volunteering that it provides abortion 
services. §1317.1(h); CAL. ADMIN. CODE TITLE 22, §70453(m)-(q) (no requirement that an 
emergency department provide abortions); Jackson v. East Bay Hospital, 246 F.3d at 1259 
(affirming this Court’s holding that §1317 “precludes liability for the failure to provide a 
particular service if the hospital does not have the appropriate facilities and personnel to 
provide that service.”); Brooker v. Desert Hosp. Corp., 947 F. 2d at 416 (holding that hospital 
that provided angioplasty to relieve emergency, but not ultimately necessary bypass did not 
violate §1317 because “Section 1317(c) indicates that the California legislature determined 
that a health facility may sometimes lack appropriate personnel and thus may reasonably 
refuse to render certain emergency care.”)      
 
(5) The physician would have had to be sufficiently trained in the performance of abortion 
procedures to make herself qualified to provide the abortion despite the fact that she was 
specifically protected by federal law from being required to undergo such training. 42 U.S.C. 
§238n(a)(1) (prohibiting any state receiving federal financial assistance from requiring a 
healthcare institution or professional to undergo training in providing abortions).   

                                                      

2 Where more than one medically indicated course of treatment is possible, reading the statute to hold 
medical professionals liable for choosing an indicated course of treatment that would have also 
protected the patient’s unborn child because that treatment failed to “relieve or eliminate the 
emergency medical condition” would subject emergency medical professionals to strict liability.     
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(6)  This physician, who had undergone abortion training and stayed current on how to perform 
the abortion procedure called for in the circumstances such that she was qualified to render the 
service, would have to refuse to provide the abortion. PUB. L. NO. 109-149, §508(d), 119 stat. 
2833, 2879-80 (2005) (Weldon Amendment). 
 
(7)  All other physicians at the hospital would have to either be unable to provide the abortion 
or refuse to do so.  See §1317(a) (requires services to be provided at certain health facilities 
with emergency departments, not by individual physicians at those facilities).  

 
Even setting aside any potential uncertainties about the Federal Government’s response to California’s 

punishment of a physician in the above circumstances, Plaintiffs have not demonstrated an actual 

realistic threat of enforcement of the Weldon Amendment against them as a result of their possible 

enforcement of §1317.  They therefore lack standing to challenge the Weldon Amendment’s 

constitutionality and their claims are not ripe.  Thomas, 220 F.3d at 1139.                            

 II.  PLAINTIFFS LACK STANDING BECAUSE CALIFORNIA HAS NO SOVEREIGN 
RIGHT TO DISCRIMINATE  AGAINST  MEDICAL PROFESSIONALS WHO DO NOT 
PERFORM OR REFER FOR ABORTIONS. 

 
  Even were Attorney General Lockyer’s interpretation of §1317 accurate as a matter of statutory 

interpretation, his interpretation would place California on a collision course with the Free Exercise 

Clause of the First Amendment and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and would conflict with 

California’s obligation under the Coats-Snowe Amendment, 42 U.S.C. §238n, not to discriminate 

against healthcare workers or institutions that refuse to provide abortions or abortion referrals.  

Because California has no sovereign right to enforce §1317 in this manner, it cannot possess standing 

to challenge the Weldon Amendment as a violation of its sovereign prerogative.3  

A. The Free Exercise Clause Prohibits California From Forcing Medical Professionals to 
Perform Abortions Against Their Religious Beliefs.  

 
  The Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution has been 

incorporated via the Fourteenth Amendment to apply to the states.  Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 

                                                      

3  Plaintiffs concede that even as to their Due Process claim, they only have standing if the state’s 
“‘sovereign or quasi-sovereign interests are implicated….’” Plaintiffs’ Opp. to Cross-Motion for 
Summ. Judg. & Reply, at 18, quoting Pennsylvania v. New Jersey, 426 U.S. 660, 665 (1976)   
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296, 303 (1940).  Because Plaintiffs would be prohibited by the Free Exercise Clause from requiring, 

on pain of criminal and civil punishment, healthcare professionals and facilities to perform abortions 

or abortion referrals in violation of their religious beliefs, California cannot claim a sovereign right to 

do so and lacks standing to violate the federal constitution in this manner.    

  The roots of this critical right of a medical professional not to be compelled to provide abortions 

against their religious beliefs and conscience are in the very cases that created the abortion right in the 

first place.  The Supreme Court’s decision in Doe v. Bolton, 410 U.S. 179 (1973), was issued 

concurrently with its decision in Roe v. Wade, and the Court stated that the two “are to be read 

together.”  Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 165 (1971).  In Doe, the Court was confronted with a state 

statute prohibiting abortions unless they were approved as “necessary” by a committee of doctors. 410 

U.S. at 184.  The statute also contained a separate provision “giving any physician and any hospital 

employee or staff member the right, on moral or religious grounds not to participate in the procedure.”  

Id.  The Court held that a committee approval requirement was unconstitutional, in significant part 

because of the fact that the separate conscience protection preserved the right of the hospital and its 

employees not to participate in the abortion: 

[T]he hospital itself is otherwise fully protected.  Under § 26-1202(e) [of the Georgia 
law], the hospital is free not to admit a patient for an abortion.  It is even free not to 
have an abortion committee.  Further a physician or any other employee has the right 
to refrain, for moral or religious reasons, from participating in the abortion 
procedure.  These provisions obviously are in the statute in order to afford 
appropriate protection to the individual and to the denominational hospital.  Section 
26-1202(e) affords adequate protection to the hospital….   
 

Doe, at 197-98.  (italics added).  Nothing in Roe and Doe, nor their progeny, suggests that a woman 

has a constitutional right to compel a physician or hospital to perform an abortion against their 

religious convictions or moral conscience.                                     

  Quoting the above language from Doe, the Ninth Circuit has observed that the Supreme Court 

recognized the necessity for protections of “the freedom of religion of those with religious or moral 

scruples against … abortions.”  Chrisman v. Sisters of St. Joseph of Peace, 506 F.2d 308, 311-12 (9th 

Cir. 1974) (upholding constitutionality of a provision of a federal statute prohibiting courts from using 
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receipt of certain federal funds as basis for compelling individual or hospital to perform abortions in 

violation of their religious beliefs or moral convictions).  In Taylor v. St. Vincent’s Hospital, the Ninth 

Circuit explained and reaffirmed its holding in Chrisman: “If the hospital’s refusal to perform [an 

abortion] infringes upon any constitutionally cognizable right to privacy, such infringement is 

outweighed by the need to protect the freedom of religion of denominational hospitals ‘with religious 

or moral scruples against sterilizations and abortions.’” 523 F.2d 75, 77 (9th Cir. 1975), quoting 

Chrisman, at 312.  See also Watkins v. Mercy Medical Center, 364 F. Supp. 799, 803 (D. Idaho 1973) 

(“[T]he Court feels it must emphasize that [the hospital] has the right to adhere to its own religious 

beliefs and not be forced to make its facilities available for services which it finds repugnant to those 

beliefs....  To hold otherwise would violate the religious rights of the hospital.”), quoted with approval 

in Chrisman, at 312; Doe v. Bellin, 479 F.2d 756, 759-60 (7th Cir. 1973) (“There is no constitutional 

objection to the decision by a purely private hospital that it will not permit its facilities to be used for 

the performance of abortions.”), quoted with approval in Chrisman, at 312.                  

  The Free Exercise problems inherent in sanctioning medical professionals and institutions for their 

religious or moral objection to providing abortion services are particularly pronounced here, where 

Plaintiffs’ interpretation of §1317 would render it neither neutral with respect to religion nor generally 

applicable.  Even in the wake of Employment Div. v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872, 883 (1990), the Supreme 

Court has reiterated that laws burdening religious exercise will be subject to strict scrutiny if they are 

not neutral and generally applicable.  Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye v. City of Hialeah, 508 U.S. 

520, 533 (1993).  In Lukumi, the Court clearly delineated several principles to be applied in 

determining whether a law is neutral and generally applicable, including: (1) Facial neutrality of a law 

is not determinative, id., at 534; (2) “[A]part from the text, the effect of a law in its real operation is 

strong evidence of its object,” id., at 535; and (3) Government officials’ exemption of certain activities 

from the law’s scope while denying religious exemptions is evidence of a lack of neutrality, id., at 

537-38.  Further, with respect to the general applicability of a law, the Court held that a law that is 

“underinclusive,” leaving unproscribed non-religiously motivated conduct that endangers the interests 

the state claims to protect at least as much as that which it prohibits, is not generally applicable and 
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thus subject to strict scrutiny. Id., at 543.  See also Menges v. Blagojevich, __ F. Supp. 2d ___ (C.D. 

Ill. 2006), 2006 WL 2579719*7-8 (state law requiring pharmacies that stock contraceptives -- but not 

emergency rooms or pharmacies that do not stock contraceptives – to dispense Plan B, and prohibiting 

pharmacies from delaying dispensing Plan B because of the pharmacist’s moral or religious beliefs, 

but not for other reasons, was potentially underinclusive and subject to strict scrutiny).   

  As discussed above, §1317 simply does not, by its express terms, require a hospital or medical 

professional working in a hospital to provide every service that might theoretically be required in a 

medical emergency.  A discrete set of required services is set out under CAL. ADMIN. CODE TITLE 22, 

§ 70453(m)-(q), but that list does not include abortion services, and certainly not in non-life-

threatening situations.  Further, the California Department of Health Services’ approval of Scripps-

Mercy Hospital’s policy prohibiting the performance of abortions reveals that this is not an actual 

requirement.  Hence, a hospital would only be required to perform an abortion if it volunteered that it 

did so “on Services Inventory Form 7041 filed by the hospital with the Office of Statewide Health 

Planning and Development.”  §1317.1(h).  In other words, a hospital would remain free to decline to 

perform any number of specific medical services not mandated as a requirement for its emergency 

medical services permit, declining to provide such services, including abortions, on any number of 

grounds, including the fact that it chose not to purchase necessary equipment or establish necessary 

facilities for abortions, or that its physicians chose not to undergo training in the practice.  Hospitals 

and professionals that choose not to provide other services that might be necessary in a given 

emergency situation would not be subject to sanction under §1317.  However, Plaintiffs argue that a 

hospital or professional that does not provide “emergency” abortions for religious or moral reasons, 

would be subject to sanction under §1317.  See, e.g., Plaintiff’s Memo in Support of MSJ, 13.     

  California law does not uniformly require hospitals and medical professionals to provide all 

services that might be necessary in a given, albeit unlikely, “medical emergency,” requiring them to 

purchase all necessary equipment and make available physicians trained in any potential emergency 

procedure.  That the State permits hospitals to decline to provide, inter alia, abortion services for 

some reasons other than religious or conscientious objections, is evidence that the law, as Attorney 
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General Lockyer interprets it is neither neutral nor generally applicable, and hence subject to strict 

scrutiny.  “It is established in our strict scrutiny jurisprudence that ‘a law cannot be regarded as 

protecting an interest of the highest order … when it leaves appreciable damage to that supposedly 

vital interest uninhibited.” Lukumi, at 546-47, quoting Florida Star v. B.J.F., 491 U.S. 524, 541-42 

(1989).  See also, Blackhawk v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 381 F. 3d 202, 208 (3rd Cir. 2004) 

(Alito, J.) (“A law fails the general applicability requirement if it burdens a category of religiously 

motivated conduct but exempts or does not reach a substantial category of conduct that is not 

religiously motivated and that undermines the purposes of the law to at least the same degree as the 

covered conduct that is religiously motivated.”)  In order to satisfy strict scrutiny, Plaintiffs would 

have to demonstrate not just a general compelling interest, but a compelling interest in specifically 

refusing a religious exemption to their mandate that every hospital and medical professional perform 

abortions.  Gonzales v. O Centro Espirita Beneficente Uniao de Vegetal, 126 S.Ct. 1211, 1220 (2006).  

Plaintiffs cannot establish that the application of §1317 to force medical professionals that declined to 

provide an abortion on religious or conscientious grounds, rather than simply because their hospital 

chose not to provide the necessary facilities and equipment, would satisfy strict scrutiny.  Thus, 

California has no sovereign interest in enforcing §1317 to this effect and lacks standing to complain of 

the Weldon Amendment’s interference with its unconstitutional enforcement of state law.                             

B. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 Prohibits California From Interfering With an 
Employer’s Obligation to Accommodate an Employee’s Religious Objection to 
Performing or Referring for Abortions. 

 
  Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 makes it unlawful for an employer “to fail or refuse to 

hire or to discharge any individual, or to otherwise discriminate against any individual with respect to 

his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual’s … 

religion.” 42 U.S.C. §2000e-2(a)(1).  Religion includes “all aspects of religious observance and 

practice, as well as belief, unless an employer demonstrates that he is unable to reasonably 

accommodate … an employee’s … religious observance or practice without undue hardship on the 

conduct of the employer’s business.”  Id. §2000e(j).  Hence, Title VII places a duty on employers to 

reasonably accommodate the religious practices of their employees unless such accommodation would 
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cause undue hardship to the employer’s business.  Ansonia Bd. Of Educ. v. Philbrook, 479 U.S. 60, 63 

(1986); Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 74 (1977).   

  Section 708 of Title VII provides that any “law which purports to require or permit the doing of an 

act which would be an unlawful employment practice under this title” is preempted by Title VII and 

therefore unenforceable.  42 U.S.C. §2000e-7.  Similarly, §1104 of Title XI, applicable to all titles of 

the Civil Rights Act, provides that no provision of the Act shall “be construed as invalidating any 

provision of State law unless such provision is inconsistent with any of the purposes of this Act, or any 

provision thereof.”  42 U.S.C. § 2000h-4 (emphasis supplied).  See also California Federal Savings & 

Loan Ass’n. v. Guerra, 479 U.S. 272, 281 (1987) (holding that state law is preempted by Title VII if 

the state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and 

objectives of Congress).  Therefore, as a constitutional matter, any state law violating or conflicting 

with Title VII is invalid under the Supremacy Clause of Article VI of the U.S. Constitution.  

Rosenfeld v. Southern Pacific Company, 444 F.2d 1219, 1225-26 (9th Cir. 1971) (California labor 

laws prohibiting employers from imposing certain conditions on female laborers were “contrary to the 

general objectives of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, … and are therefore, by virtue of the 

Supremacy Clause, supplanted by Title VII.”); Homemakers, Inc. of Los Angeles v. Division of 

Industrial Welfare, 356 F.Supp. 1111, 1112 (N.D. Cal. 1973) (California laws providing for overtime 

pay for certain female employees conflicted with and were thus preempted by Title VII).    

  In Menges v. Blagojevich, a federal district court in Illinois recently held that religious pharmacists 

and their employer, Walgreens,4 stated a claim that a state law that had the effect of requiring 

pharmacies to order pharmacists to fill prescriptions for “Plan B” over their religious objections was 

preempted by Title VII’s mandate that employers reasonably accommodate the religious beliefs of 

their employees. 2006 WL 2579719, at 9-10.  The court recognized that “[a] rule that mandates 

religious discrimination [in this case by refusal to accommodate] by employers would conflict with 

                                                      

4  Walgreens intervened in Menges v. Blagojevich, arguing that the Illinois rule was preempted by 
Title VII and subjected Walgreens to civil suits by employees (under Title VII) for complying with the 
rule.  Menges, at *1.   
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Title VII and would be preempted.”  Id. at 9.  Similarly, hospitals in California are required to 

reasonably accommodate the religious beliefs of their individual physicians and other medical 

professionals who object to performing or referring for abortions.  The interpretation of §1317 

Plaintiffs urge would unavoidably disturb the delicate balance of accommodation Congress set up 

when it created Title VII.  In fact, the interference with Title VII rights is even more direct in this case 

than in Menges.  While the government officials in Menges insisted that pharmacies might 

accommodate their pharmacists’ religious objections, insisting that the state law required only 

pharmacies, not each individual pharmacist, to fill “Plan B” prescriptions, Menges, at *10, Plaintiffs 

here have specifically objected to the Weldon Amendment because they claim that it “single[s] out 

abortion as the one emergency medical procedure that health care professionals and entities cannot be 

forced to provide.”  Plaintiffs’ Memo in Support of MSJ, 23.  Moreover, §1317.6(c) provides for civil 

fines against individual physicians and surgeons that violate §1317 and §1317.6(h) states that “any 

administrative or medical personnel who knowingly and intentionally violates any provision of this 

article may be charged by the local district attorney with a misdemeanor.”  Thus, §1317, as interpreted 

by Plaintiffs to provide criminal and civil sanctions for both hospitals and professionals who do not 

provide abortions and abortion referrals, would directly interfere with hospitals’ obligations and 

employees’ rights under Title VII.   

  At least where the accommodation of a medical professional’s religious objections to providing 

abortions or abortion referrals would not be an undue hardship on the hospital employer – for 

example, where others are available and willing to provide the service -- Plaintiffs’ interpretation of 

§1317 to punish individual medical professionals and require them to provide abortions or abortion 

referrals would interfere with a medical professional’s rights and the hospital’s obligations under Title 

VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  California has no sovereign right to interfere with 

accommodations of religious objections pursuant to Title VII.          

 
C. California Has Voluntarily Submitted to the Coats-Snowe Amendment, Prohibiting it 

From Requiring Medical Professionals and Hospitals to Provide Abortions or Abortion 
Referrals in Violation of Their Conscience. 
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  In addition to First Amendment and Title VII proscriptions on California’s application of §1317 to 

compel hospitals and medical professionals to provide abortions and abortion referrals, California has 

also chosen to subject itself to another federal statute that prohibits it from enforcing §1317 to compel 

hospitals or medical professionals to provide abortions or abortion referrals. The Coats-Snowe 

Amendment, 42 U.S.C. §238n, provides: 

(a) The Federal Government, and any State or local government that receives [“health-
related” per 42 U.S.C. § 238n(c)(1)] Federal financial assistance, may not subject any 
health care entity to discrimination on the basis that –  
(1) the entity refuses to undergo training in the performance of induced abortions, 
to require or provide such training, to perform such abortions, or to provide referrals 
for such training or such abortions; 
(2) the entity refuses to make arrangements for any of the activities specified in 
paragraph (1) … 
 

The statute defines a “health care entity” to include “an individual physician, a postgraduate physician 

training program, and a participant in a program of training in the health professions.” 42 U.S.C. 

§238n(c)(2).   

  In 2005 California received approximately $28,365,264,653 from the United States Department of 

Health & Human Services for a number of health-related programs.  Dec. of Tim Muscat, ¶3 & 

Exhibit A to same (Supplemental Response of Defendant Michael Leavitt to Interrogatory 13.  This 

represents over 75% of the funding at issue in this case.  Muscat Dec., ¶¶3-5 ($8,163,449,580 in 

Education funding, $1,187,767,972 in Labor funding).  These health-related funds would be clearly 

subject to the Coats-Snowe Amendment.  See 42 U.S.C. §238n(c)(1) (defining “Federal financial 

assistance” for Amendment’s purposes as those that are “health-related.”)  Yet Plaintiffs do not 

challenge the constitutionality of this law.  Nor have Plaintiffs evinced any intent by California to 

forego any funding that triggers the application of the Coats-Snowe Amendment should they prevail 

in this action.  Hence, whatever the Court’s decision with regard to the constitutionality of the Weldon 

Amendment, California would remain subject to the Coats-Snowe Amendment, prohibiting California 

from discriminating against healthcare workers who refuse to be trained in the performance of 

abortions, to perform abortions or to provide referrals for abortions.  42 U.S.C. §238n(a)(1).  Plaintiffs 

cannot have standing to vindicate California’s alleged “sovereign right” to enforce §1317 to punish 

Case 3:05-cv-00328-JSW     Document 112     Filed 10/23/2006     Page 23 of 33


App_98



 

    Medical Groups’ Memo in Support of MSJ and Opposition to Plaintiffs’ MSJ State of California et al. v. United States et al. 
Civil Action No.:  C-05-00328 JSW 

17

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

 

medical professionals who do not provide abortions or abortion referrals while California 

simultaneously voluntarily subjects itself to another federal law that prohibits it from enforcing §1317 

in this same manner.5     

 III.  PLAINTIFFS LACK STANDING BECAUSE EVEN IF THIS COURT GRANTS THE RELIEF THEY  
SEEK, CALIFORNIA WOULD REMAIN SUBJECT TO FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL AND 
STATUTORY PROHIBITIONS ON THE APPLICATION OF §1317 TO CRIMINALLY PROSECUTE AND 
CIVILLY PUNISH HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONALS WHO DO NOT PERFORM ABORTIONS.  

 
  A Plaintiff lacks standing to invoke the jurisdiction of a federal court if the injury it complains of is 

not “likely to be redressed by the requested relief.”  Allen v. Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 751 (1984).  “‘The 

necessity that the plaintiff who seeks to invoke judicial power stand to profit in some personal interest 

remains an Art. III requirement.’” Allen, 468 U.S. at 766, quoting Simon v. Eastern Kentucky Welfare 

Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 39 (1976) (holding that Plaintiff lacked standing where there was no 

“substantial likelihood” that ordering federal agency to reinstate rule requiring nonprofit hospitals to 

treat indigents in certain circumstances “would result in respondents’ receiving the hospital treatment 

they desire.”); Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992) (Standing requires that “it 

must be likely as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable 

decision.”); Pritkin v. Dep’t of Energy, 254 F.3d 791, 799 (9th Cir. 2001) (redressability requires that 

“a decision in [Plaintiffs’] favor will produce tangible, meaningful results in the real world.”)  “Absent 

                                                      

5 In addition to the Coats-Snowe Amendment, 42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(d) provides: 

No individual shall be required to perform or assist in the performance of any part of a 
health service program or research activity funded in whole or in part under a program 
administered by the Secretary of Health and Human Services if his performance or 
assistance in the performance of such part of such program or activity would be 
contrary to his religious beliefs or moral convictions. 

 
In 2000, Department of Health and Human Services Secretary Donna Shalala confirmed that this 
statute prohibits requiring individuals to provide abortion counseling and referrals in violation of their 
religious beliefs or conscience.  65 Fed. Reg. 41273-74.  Thus, under this statute, in effect for over 
thirty years, where medical emergency services subject to §1317 are funded in whole or in part by 
HHS (for example, where the patient’s care is paid for by Medicare), individuals may not be required 
to perform abortions.   
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such a showing, exercise of its power by a federal court would be gratuitous and thus inconsistent 

with the Art. III limitation.” Simon, 426 U.S. at 38.         

  Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the Weldon Amendment is unconstitutional in its entirety.  

Plaintiffs argue that “[w]ere it not for the Weldon Amendment, a pregnant woman needing emergency 

abortion-related medical services would have California as an ally in her effort to obtain such 

services.”  Plaintiff’s Memo in Support of MSJ, at 24.  Setting aside the fact that no California law 

actually requires hospitals or medical professionals to perform abortions, this proposition is also 

incorrect in that California would remain subject to federal constitutional and statutory provisions that 

would prohibit it from enforcing §1317 to compel hospitals and medical professionals to provide 

abortions or abortion referrals against their religious beliefs or conscience.  The remedy Plaintiffs seek 

would not relieve them of any of these other federal constitutional or statutory obligations.  

  The Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment would continue to prevent California from 

criminally prosecuting or civilly sanctioning a healthcare professional who holds a religious or 

conscientious objection to performing abortions.  Title VII of the Civil Rights Act would still prevent 

California from forcing a hospital to violate its employees’ right to a reasonable accommodation of 

their religious convictions concerning performing abortions.  Further, with respect to the Coats-Snowe 

Amendment, 42 U.S.C. § 238n, California has never suggested that it would choose to forego its 

funding from the Department of Health & Human Services in order to relieve itself of the obligations 

of that law.  Over $28 billion of the $37 billion (approximately 75%) in federal funding California 

receives that is subject to the Weldon Amendment is also subject to the Coats-Snowe Amendment. 

Dec. of Tim Muscat in Support of Plaintiffs’ MSJ, ¶3, and Exhibit A, Defendant Leavitt’s 

Supplemental Response to Plaintiff’s Interrogatory 13.  Hence, it would be difficult to square a 

decision by California to forego its HHS funding (to which the Coats-Snowe condition attaches) with 

its position in this litigation that the amount of funds subject to the Weldon Amendment coerces it to 

accept Weldon’s conditions. 

  There is no likelihood that the requested relief, a declaration that the Weldon Amendment is 

unconstitutional, will remedy the harm Plaintiffs allege, the inability to apply §1317 to criminally 
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prosecute and civilly sanction medical professionals and institutions that do not provide abortion 

services.  Thus, Plaintiffs’ alleged injury is not redressable in this action and this Court lacks 

jurisdiction to enter the gratuitous relief they request.  Simon, 426 U.S. at 38.  

 IV. THE WELDON AMENDMENT DOES NOT INTERFERE WITH ACCESS TO  
NECESSARY EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES.  

 
  The Weldon Amendment is not a curb on abortion services and in no way prevents a woman from 

receiving emergency medical services, even including abortions in a theoretical circumstance where 

they are necessary.  It simply supplements a long-standing body of federal and state law protecting the 

rights of individual healthcare institutions and professionals not to participate in providing abortions.  

See Government Defendants’ Response to Brief of Amici Curiae, 2-6.  That a woman may have a 

constitutionally protected right to procure an abortion does not require California to ensure that other 

private individuals and institutions set aside their own constitutional rights and perform that abortion.  

Even the amici do not argue for such a constitutional obligation on private hospitals or individual 

professionals at public or private facilities.  See Brief of Amici Curiae, 12-13.  Nor does Roe and its 

progeny  authorize the state – as §1317 would do if interpreted as Plaintiffs urge -- to prosecute, fine, 

or provide for legal actions by the Attorney General and/or any woman of child-bearing age to force 

medical professionals to perform abortions (and collect their attorney’s fees from the medical 

professional).  Plaintiffs and amici simply invent a threat where none exists.  In the theoretical 

circumstance where the sole indicated necessary treatment option to save a woman’s life or protect her 

from serious injury might cause the death of a woman’s unborn child, there is no reason to believe that 

the Medical Groups’ members or any ethical physician would fail to ensure that the necessary 

treatment was provided.       

  However, the existence of a circumstance in which a physician in an emergency department will 

have no medically indicated option short of immediately performing an abortion in order to prevent 

serious harm to the mother is speculative at best.  Plaintiffs do not provide expert testimony or any 

other evidence that situations exist in which an abortion is the sole indicated immediately necessary 

treatment of an emergency medical condition.  After the cross-motions for summary judgment had 
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been briefed, however, the amici purported to demonstrate such situations.6  The conditions they 

identify, however, are either (1) situations in which there is no chance that the pregnancy could 

possibly result in a live birth and thus there would be no basis for a religious or moral objection to 

providing the services required to protect the woman, or (2) situations in which the an immediate 

abortion is contraindicated, or at least where other treatments are also medically indicated, including 

delivery of the child.     

  The amici’s first example, “inevitable” and “incomplete” miscarriages, are circumstances where, 

by definition, the pregnancy cannot result in a live birth.  There would, therefore, be no basis for 

objecting to the provision of any immediately necessary treatment which a professional was trained 

and able to provide to protect the woman, and there is no reason to believe a woman would ever be 

denied treatment in such circumstances.  However, with respect to a “threatened” miscarriage, 

abortion is not necessarily medically indicated.  Even the amici only insist that an abortion would be 

indicated in that context “where the woman wants to terminate the pregnancy.”  Brief Amici Curiae, 4.  

Such a choice by the woman is irrelevant to whether an abortion is necessary on an emergency basis 

such that a physician can be punished for choosing another treatment option.  See Plaintiffs’ Memo in 

Support of MSJ, 24 n 4 (no reason to believe women needing emergency abortions would voluntarily 

choose to terminate their pregnancies).  Like inevitable and incomplete miscarriages, ectopic 

pregnancies are also circumstances in which there is no likelihood of a successful delivery, and hence 

there would be no objection to procedures to protect a woman in this circumstance.           

  A woman experiencing premature rupture of the membranes surrounding her unborn child is at risk 

of an infection called chorioamnionitis, resulting from bacteria in the cervical and vaginal flora.  

MEDICAL COMPLICATIONS DURING PREGNANCY, Gerald N. Burrow, et al., eds., Elsevier Saunders (6th 

                                                      

6  As amici, not expert witnesses, the information they provide is not subject to the typical standards 
for expert witness testimony and should not be given such weight.  In this respect, Plaintiffs’ reliance 
upon Planned Parenthood of Idaho v. Wasden is misplaced since in that case the Plaintiff actually 
presented medical evidence which the Defendants chose not to dispute. 376 F.3d 908, 924.        
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ed. 2004), at 314.  The indicated treatment for premature rupture, however, which amici recognize 

may manifest as late as 37 weeks of gestation, Brief of Amici Curiae, 4, is prompt administration of 

intravenous antibiotics, monitoring for signs of infection, fluid support, and delivery. MEDICAL 

COMPLICATIONS DURING PREGNANCY, at 315.   

  With respect to hypertensive disorders like pre-eclampsia, eclampsia, and HELLP syndrome, amici 

carefully do not state that the medically indicated procedure is abortion, instead noting that these 

conditions may require “termination of the pregnancy.”  Brief of Amici Curiae, 5.  This is because pre-

eclampsia, the earliest of these conditions, does not manifest, by definition, until after the 20th week 

of gestation.  MEDICAL COMPLICATIONS DURING PREGNANCY, at 45-47.  Optimal treatment consists of 

bed rest, blood pressure monitoring and control, regulation of fluid intake and output, close hospital 

monitoring and medication for neurologic indications. MEDICAL COMPLICATIONS DURING 

PREGNANCY, at 54-56; CRITICAL CARE OBSTETRICS, Gary A. Dildy III, et al., eds., The McGraw-Hill 

Companies, Inc., New York (2003), at 438.  Newer hypertensive medications have improved 

treatment and control of these conditions. CRITICAL CARE OBSTETRICS, at 441-444.  If the condition 

worsens after attempts at medical control, early delivery is the indicated treatment. Id., at 438 (“When 

severe pre-eclampsia is diagnosed, immediate delivery, regardless of gestational age, has generally 

been recommended”) (italics added).   

  In cases of placenta abruptio, the amici do not state that abortion is indicated, recognizing that in 

some cases “immediate delivery” may be required. Brief Amici Curiae, 6.  In cases of  placenta previa 

where there is vaginal blood loss, the appropriate treatment includes bed rest, close hospital 

monitoring, fluid resuscitation, and transfusion if necessary.  CRITICAL CARE OBSTETRICS, at 298.  If 

the mother’s condition permits, ultrasound evaluation and testing for viability may be considered.  

However, the appropriate treatment is not abortion, since “prompt delivery prevents further 

decompensation of both mother and fetus.” Id.  “If the fetus is alive and of viable gestational age at 

presentation, urgent delivery by caesarean section is indicated unless vaginal delivery is imminent.” 

Id.   
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  Contrary to amici’s assertions, abortion is also not the necessary indication in women with certain 

rare cardiac conditions.  Cardiac surgery is not absolutely contraindicated during pregnancy, but 

should be optimized as to time, place, gestation and level of care. MEDICAL KNOWLEDGE SELF-

ASSESSMENT PROGRAM, (Paul E. Epstein, et al., eds., 2003), 96-97.  On the other hand, abortion as a 

treatment for serious cardiac problems like congestive heart failure is recognized to carry serious 

inherent risks: 

For the patient who is not in cardiac failure there is no need to terminate and if she is 
in failure termination is next door to manslaughter …  On no account may obstetrical 
intervention be undertaken until the patient’s  cardiac failure is under control, 
although the situation may seem so grim that one may be tempted to interfere.  To do 
so would simply seal the patient’s fate.  Once failure has been controlled, however, 
the need to intervene in the pregnancy has passed.   

    
PRACTICAL OBSTETRICAL PROBLEMS, Donald, I., (5th ed. 1979), 169-170 (emphases added).  

Treatments other than abortion are also typically indicated in cases of Marfan’s syndrome, a genetic 

disease that carries a risk of aortic dissection and other cardiovascular complications.  Despite amici’s 

claim that “an immediate abortion must be performed,” Brief of Amici Curiae, at 7, medical 

authorities state that “[i]deal monitoring includes blood pressure analysis and serial echocardiographic 

studies.  If there is progressive aortic root dilation or if the aortic root diameter exceeds 5.5 cm, 

necessary surgical repair can be carried out during pregnancy with good outcomes.” MEDICAL 

COMPLICATIONS DURING PREGNANCY, at 112, citing Elkayam, U., et al., Cardiovascular Problems in 

Pregnant Women with the Marfan Syndrome, 123 ANN. INTERN. MED. 117 (1995).  In certain 

circumstances, caesarean section may be advised in these cases.  Id.          

  Nevertheless, as the above demonstrates, whether treatment options other than emergency abortion 

are available in a given circumstance may not be uniformly agreed upon.  Further, §1317 threatens 

sanctions whenever services are not performed and, inter alia, the “patient’s health [is] in serious 

jeopardy.” §1317.1(b)(1).  The term “health” is undefined, but must be read to mean something lesser 

than a threat of “serious impairment of bodily functions,” §1317.1(b)(2), or “serious dysfunction of 

any bodily organ or part” §1317.1(b)(3) in order to give the term any effect.  Moreover, “health” 

exceptions to abortion restrictions have usually been broadly interpreted. Bolton, 410 U.S. at 192 
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(“physical, emotional, psychological, [and] familial,” ….  All these factors may relate to health.”); 

American Academy of Pediatrics v. Lungren, 16 Cal. App. 4th 307, 356 (1997) (both physical and 

“mental risk” to minor avoided by judicial bypass for abortions);  Michael Stokes Paulsen, The Worst 

Constitutional Decision of All Time, 78  NOTRE DAME L. REV. 995, 996, n4 (2003) (“Because of the 

‘health’ exception to abortion regulation in the last trimester, the mother may choose abortion for 

essentially any personal, family or emotional reason.”)  The Medical Groups’ members and 

undoubtedly many other physicians would certainly object to performing abortions in such 

circumstances.  Further, under the California Reproductive Privacy Act, a physician may not be 

criminally liable for an illegal abortion even on a viable fetus if he believes there is any risk to the 

woman’s “health.”  CAL. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE §123468(b)(2).  While the scope of “health” 

exceptions are typically at issue in cases in which a woman wants an abortion late in her pregnancy, 

here Plaintiffs turn this issue on its head and would impose upon physicians criminal and civil liability 

for not performing an abortion in these undefined circumstances.  Whereas broad interpretations of 

health exceptions usually permit women leeway in making the abortion decision and free physicians 

from criminal prosecution for illegal abortions, a broad interpretation of the term “health” in this case 

would have the exact opposite effect, subjecting physicians to criminal and civil liability for not 

performing abortions where it would be “reasonabl[e]” to believe not doing so might affect her 

“health.” §1317.1(b).       

  Requiring physicians to perform abortions in such a context or face the threat of prosecution or 

civil sanctions would force a physician to err on the side of performing abortions in fear that the state 

might second-guess – and even criminally prosecute her for -- her decision to pursue other treatment 

options that she believed could protect both the woman and her unborn child.  See Stenberg, 530 U.S. 

at 945 (declaring state partial-birth abortion law unconstitutional where it was susceptible to different 

interpretations and “[a]ll those who perform abortion procedures using that method must fear 

prosecution, conviction, and imprisonment.”)  Particularly where because of her medical condition the 

woman cannot participate in the decision to have an abortion necessary to protect some aspect of her 
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“health” this would not only violate the constitutional and statutory rights of the treating medical 

professionals, but would ignore the woman’s right to bear a child.        

 V.   EVEN IF THE WELDON AMENDMENT WERE UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN SOME    
HYPOTHETICAL APPLICATIONS, THIS WOULD NOT JUSTIFY A DECLARATION 
THAT IT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN TOTO.  

 
  Arguing that the Weldon Amendment interferes with a woman’s procurement of an abortion in a 

“medical emergency,” Plaintiffs ask this Court to declare the Weldon Amendment unconstitutional in 

toto.  Plaintiffs’ Memo in Support of MSJ, 25; Proposed Order, 9.  Even if the Court finds that 

Plaintiffs have demonstrated circumstances in which the Weldon Amendment would 

unconstitutionally interfere with California’s valid enforcement of §1317 and the relief Plaintiffs seek 

would remedy this alleged harm, the Supreme Court has held that courts should enjoin such statutes 

only in their unconstitutional applications, at least where legislative intent would not counsel that the 

statute should be stricken in its entirety rather than enjoined in those applications.  Ayotte v. Planned 

Parenthood of Northern New England, 126 S.Ct. 961, 969 (2006).  See also Planned Parenthood 

Federation of America v. Gonzales, 435 F.3d 1163, 1185 (9th Cir. 2006) (because court held Federal 

Partial Birth Abortion Ban Act unconstitutional on vagueness grounds as well as for lack of a health 

exception, court could not craft a more narrow injunction, but had it been merely unconstitutional for 

lack of a health exception a more narrow remedy may have been called for).  The possibility for an 

actual conflict between the Weldon Amendment and §1317 – even as Plaintiffs interpret it -- is remote 

at best.  Thus, should the Court determine that the Weldon Amendment would unconstitutionally 

prevent Plaintiffs from enforcing §1317 in these narrow theoretical circumstances, it should enjoin its 

application there only, leaving it effective in the vast majority of its applications.7         

VI. PLAINTIFFS ARE FREE TO SEEK CLARIFICATION OF THE TERMS OF THE  
WELDON AMENDMENT FROM THE FEDERAL AGENCIES RESPONSIBLE FOR ITS 
INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT.  

 
                                                      

7 Even if it enjoined the application of the Weldon Amendment in cases of an “emergency medical 
condition” under §1317, the Court must define and limit the term “health” in such a manner as to 
provide medical professionals with notice of the circumstances in which they might be criminally and 
civilly liable for not performing an abortion.   
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  Plaintiffs argue that the Weldon Amendment is vague and leaves them uncertain as to whether 

certain applications of California law would violate its terms.  See, e.g., Plaintiffs’ Memo in Support 

of MSJ, 22-23; Lockyer Declaration, ¶5-6. (“[t]he State of California has received no information 

from the federal government as to the meaning of the Weldon Amendment or its requirements or 

prohibitions.  Likewise, the federal government has provided no guidance regarding compliance with 

the Weldon Amendment.”)  However, Plaintiffs do not state whether they have ever sought this 

guidance or clarification as federal law permits them to do.  The Administrative Procedures Act 

(“APA”) 5 U.S.C. § 553(e), provides that each agency must “give an interested person the right to 

petition for the issuance, amendment, or repeal of a rule.”  Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit mere weeks 

after the Weldon Amendment was signed into law.  They have offered no evidence that they 

petitioned the Secretary to initiate rulemaking proceedings pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 553(e) before filing 

this action in the District Court or in the two years since.  See, Brown v. Secretary of Health and 

Human Services, 46 F.3d 102, 113-14 (1st Cir. 1995) (“Where as here plaintiffs seek to raise a host of 

factual and policy issues … it was patently appropriate, and in many cases could be essential for 

plaintiffs to have petitioned the agency before seeking judicial redress.”).  To the extent that 

California seeks, and its concerns may be assuaged by, clarification of the Weldon Amendment’s 

terms, it would remain free to do so even if this Court grants summary judgment to Defendants.  

Schuck v. Butz, 500 F.2d 810, 812 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (affirmance of summary judgment, “a disposition 

that leaves appellants free to petition the Secretary for a rule making proceeding”). 

CONCLUSION 

  Plaintiffs seek to manufacture a conflict where none exists.  For the reasons above as well as those 

explained by the Government Defendants, the Court should deny Plaintiffs’ motion for summary 

judgment and grant summary judgment in favor of Defendants.   75 

 

  

DATED: October 23, 2006.     

Respectfully submitted, 
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